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Memo re:
Date:

Systematic Torture and Abuse ofMoazzam Begg
November 24, 2004

Introduction

This report is written upon the return of Mr. Begg's lawyer, Clive Stafford Smith, from
Guantanamo Bay, without notes (which had to be sent to Washington via the slow procedures
required by the Department of Defense). It is therefore necessarily incomplete. Quotations come
from other aspects of the file, with italicized quotes being matters that have already been
declassified. Statements attributed to Mr. Begg without citation are counsel's best recollection of
what he related. Mr. Begg has an extremely good recollection of names and dates, but it is next to
impossible for counsel remember these critically important detail~without notes.

Mr. Begg is willing to have this information divulged because he recognizes that it is
important that the world understand the systematic abuse that he (and many others) underwent.
However, because much of the information is humiliating (humiliation being, of course, a major
purpose of torture), his instructions are that the release of the information shall be controlled by his
attorneys alone, and nobody else has permission to release this information. Both the V.S. and the
V.K. governments are specificallyprohibited from releasing this information without prior aproval
by Mr. Begg's lawyers.

Material that has alreadybeen declassified is marked either V (unclassified) or FOVO (For
Official Vse Only).)

Because, sadly, we deal with issues of torture that should have been consigned to history
books about the Middle Ages, there are certain terms that may be unfamiliar to the reader. These
are defined in the glossary at the end.

1. Death, Torture by threats of

Mr. Begg has frequently been threatened with the ultimate torture - death.

a. Threats of summary judicial execution

Particularly during the month of May, 2002, Mr. Begg was constantly threatened with

) It is not clear what is meant by "FOVO", since the process of representing someone in a
political case such as this quintessentially involves the use of political means - which must
involve both governments and the media. In an effort to clarify this term, counsel consulted with
Jennifer Campbell of the Court Security Office, who has (reasonably enough) also indicated her
confusion at the scope of the term. (11/23/2004)
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execution. ibjll WI.! c;1onemoSt VQcifcrouaJ~ FBI qcnu &om New YOIX (who idantiticd
th=sdves as ~ . md _(pronounczd ~). the CIA agmt, w1 the Major who was in
command of the Blgram bue sf the time. Wbile in Bagnun, Mr. Begg was thre8tened with
electrocution. Later,he was t1aatcaaa with JethalUUecticmor death iDa gu cbmber. He was told
that he W8Salready guUtytthat hc::wou1db~ summarily tried IDdCOD~etedmd executed:

"(i) J would b8 held. Ilfdejirrit4Jly.pl'DbtlbIy itA,.JetltlrQ/yeti'S befo,e
evell fI aft.,,~ CDun.r~l,or CtJI8fIJftIri1rgdlJle Wia dt!u""iNYl; (U)]
wavld/fletllllWl7Pl41:J1trilll ill U.8. Mililill'y TribrDlllb which eould well
,g"ll ill fI life .re1l1e~8 ro ",meJ 11111~III Jecuriry ''p,ilfJII ";
(lit) J corJtlb, !aclllg 'a po.uihilirj 01 ~tiQ7J by lerAal i'fljectio71
or erzs:(iY) in ehJuD- CG811J waJIld "rJIW ,. ollrrwetl to He "'y loysd

OJfU qllill,' (v) 1 \4IOIIlIlmnain 111$0/iI4" eo"jme1M1ft Li1llil It
dltdsi01l W4.r'IIf/I/U." (027) a 38) (FOUO)

He wu told mat the British pCllID':D.8l:lthad effectively given their thwnbs up to 1his. and
would DafbDlphim in any vno'. (One hopes th811trlsis a He.since the UX gOVI'JTllft'l8Dtis firmly
oppolm 10the deaJhPc:rWty,but it carraiDJyseemed =MDdnS ro Mr. Beg.)

2. Wftaesdal rhe murder 01otber pri.Dllen

Mr. Bell witDessedthe murd.. of NfOotherpriSODr:.nI.both at Bagran. This hu beat .
majorfactorin theps:ychoJogjc:aJabuseof Mr, Beg. IS he knows thar Ameri~ "ha ha"e
threatmedhis oYi!2llfebaveecftWlytBkeDthelivesor at Icasttwootb« prisoners,rightin frcmtof
his fAce. This ~ clearlyaddl:d exponeatiaJIyto hiJ apprehension and fear when being threatened
himself.

His despair is compounded by the ~ tha~he, althougb gml!)' ofDotbing.1w beea to1tUnd
4Dd held for tbrcc yellS withoUt proc:eSl. 111amDSt, tho.e Ammc::a.a srrv.icemen who committed

.murder baw, in some inl~ces. 8pp1R:fttl)' DOt&Wanbeea mvatigated at aJIJhave not bean anestc:d.,
and have ccnaiDly Dot been punished.

1. ne Ftnt Murder: TwoMP'. be.&a YOWlgAlgbaDto
de8th .

One murda- VIISalSo witnessed by British dewnee R.i=ardBe1mu. This invo]ved ayoung
Afghui who managed ro let our of the case in which he 'WISbe2Dgheld, by cr1IwJing tbmugb the
toilet. He wu rapidly apprehended on the othcr side of the wire, where two MP's grabbed him.
They bad bim among some JDac:hiae.9J8ft over &om tho days whea the hanger \llSI used by the
SoviBts.

Mr. Beggcanclearlydescn"beboth MP's andknowsoneto bave gone:by thename'"
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(LNU), flU,! "Theomer MP W8$also ftom North Carolina.Z Mr.Beg was
'particularly upset a'boUl:~ becaus~ shown lUmsome decc:ncyat fun~ and had even
braught aBritish scldicr (a cook &omNewcastle)who was statiDDedat Bagl'amin 10talk to him one
time.

Mr. Beg could hew while me youq Afgbanj ViISbeing beat= to death among 1herusting
msdUnes. ThCJ the young JDSI1W3!draged out !Ddhis body c:arric:din ioDt of Mr. Be" to the
medica] Station. icrcss ftom hi- cap. A wbfic lata' me YDUI1Iman's body was brought out ODa
gumey. covered by a blarWt. .

Afta' initially hrapl about thi~o~ aome r=~ 10Mr. Bea Jarer OD5sl)iDe
he showdnothaved.cmcit. 1he othrrMPt ODmeotherhand.bragcd aboutit andmade commenta
abaut the same- thi:na happmiliag to the o1har prisoaen..

A 1hird oBicer larc:r told Mr. Beg that the )'Dim' man had betm slated 10 go home a week
later. Despc:ration had led him 1a by to Ft out mm.e1f despair flooded Mr. Beg 8.1the thought.

2. ne SeccmdMl1I'dor:A putitlllarJy S.dilde: MP butl
aDotller'Af... to deed!

Mr. Beg also \Wimessedevmts leadingto the death of another Afghani prisoner. To get into
the cage where Mr. BegS\Vu held, merewu ID"airloc:k"which WIISthe $:Q18U(slightly Jllrgerthan
Im :11Im) aru benweenthe twa sazes that led into it. Pat of the intem:lgation process when
priSOC8r.lfirst came to !be cages It Ba~ was for them 10be held iDthe "mrlockt' and left there,

. sha.cJc]edir1the~rrappadoIOtRU'epositionforaslongssIbeintcnogatorsdictatedfor eachprisoner.
'Theprisoner'shaadswouldbepassedthroulb'betweentwohorizontaJbillweUabovehishead,and
the haDdcuft's wowd be placed cmhil wrists so he Wa.tessmtia1Jy mspeDded there. The height of
his shack1in1 -CNld dBJIead on the prisoner's height and the guard's sadism -in other words. same
might be able to s1.IIDdwith their anus OUtBfttChed. "'bile o1hers *Owd be danglin,g with much of
their \Veigbt o,Dtheir &rmI and, pairaibU)'.on the1umdc:uffi that would be cu.nmginto the ~ around
rhcrirWrists.

This particular AfgbIDi wu placed iDthe BirJockin the sr,llppGdDposition end Jd then:.
Hc initieHypror.e:stcclthat he wu iDpain.bUtthe MP's isncrrcdmm. 111=hegraduaDySaMuntil
be wu limp. OneMJ>1came in and orderedmm to sracdup. He couldnot con'IpIy.The MP
repeatedlyforcedhim to Stam4U)'.buthe collapsedeach timerh!!MP raisedhim. The MPtnen

:l.l\.11r.Beg is very clear 0%1the details of this entire incident, with detailed descriptions of
those in'volved, what was said by whom. and sa 011. Counsel, O~the othm- hand, is cu:rently :aot
allowed to hav8 his notes aDd mi)' not be clearly recalJing the details for thiS memorandum. The
ac:.:urate details wm be revr:aled when coun.sel i$ reunited with his notes:

J Mr. Begg can give thorough details of the MP involved.
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began to punch him mercilessly in the kidneys and about the body, going on for a long time. Mr.
Begg remembers vividly the entire episode, since the horror is imprinted in his mind.

Eventually the MP undid the cuffs and took the man down, cuffed him again, and dragged
him off to one of the interrogation rooms. Later, Mr. Begg and the other prisoners learned that the
prisoner had died.

This is a homicide that has, apparently,been investigated, and Mr. Begg has been debriefed
by law enforcement in Guantanamo Bay.

2. PhysicalTorture (Torture in the First Degree)

There are many ways in which Mr. Begg suffered from physical torture himself.

a. Beatingsof~r.Begg

Beatings would be carried out with various implements. Beatings with the fists were the
most common, with other beatings interspersed.

i. Beating the Prisoner with Truncheons

Mr. Begg reports being beaten or threatened with heavy sticks that were of the same general
weight as truncheons. This happened regularly.

n. Stomping on the Prisoner's the Feet

As he was initially moved by the U.S. military to Afghanistan - a warzonethathe hadfled
for his own safety and the safety of his family - Mr. Begg was taken off the plane and roughly
handled. He was barefoot, in the freezing Afghan winter, because he was snatched from his own
home without footwear, and the broken pair of sandals he had been given in the Islamabad prison
had been taken away by the Americans.

At one point, as he was waiting on the cold ground to be processed, trying to keep his
circulation going, he moved slightly, thereby provoking the ire of an American MP. The soldier
came over to him and viciously stomped on Mr. Begg's feet in combat boots. The pain from this
abusewas constant for a longtime, and the defonnation of Mr. Begg's big toe is partially attributable
to this act of brutality.

ill. Beating ~r. Begg about the head

Mr. Begg reports being beaten about the head during his interrogation sessions in
Afghanistan. He was also hit, and threatened with being hit, when being moved to Kandahar and
Bagram.
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iv. BeatingMr. Beggabout the ears (Telefono)

Mr. Begg reportsbeingboxed aboutthe earsduringhis interrogationsessionsin Afghanistan,
during the month of terror in May 2002. Beating victims around the ears to cause pain and possible
long term hearing problems is a classic, medieval form of torture called telefono. Mr. Begg now
suffers from ear problems, and has been told that he needs surgery on his ears.4

b. KickingMr. Begg

Mr. Begg reports a series of vicious kicks from V.S. personnel. These would generally
happen when he was shackled and on the floor. He was kicked in the back, the side, and the
stomach, as well as being kneed in the stomach and the groin.

c. Cold / Hypothermia used as PhysicalTorture

Mr. Begg's abusers used the cold in Afghanistan as habitual tools of torture. When he was
first taken to Kandahar he was given two thin blankets to serve as his mattress, his bedding and his
pillow in the freezing temperatures of his initial confinement.

Particularly in Bagram, the cold was used to increase the suffering of Mr. Begg and other
prisoners during showers, and as punishment for any minor perceived infraction. For example,
showers were taken in the freezing cold, and Mr. Begg reports one prisoner actually succumbing to
hypothermia. Mr. Begg, along with others, suffered greatly through this.

If the prisoners did not obey the rigid timing of the showers then they had more cold water
tipped on them and were put in the strappado position in the airlock gates of the cages.

d. Guns used to Threaten Mr. Begg's life

The use of weapons to terrorize Mr. Begg and others being held with him was one of the
most effective forms of abuse.

i. Direct threats with guns

The use of guns began with Mr. Begg's abduction. It was around midnight on the night of
January 31,2002, when roughly eight people, including two American FBI agents, burst into Mr.
Begg's home. They placed a gun to his head, seized him, and put a bag over his head.

4 Naturally, because he has not had an appropriate medical assessment, the etiology of his
suffering cannot be precisely identified, but it is certainly due either to his physical abuse, or to
the generally unsanitary conditions of his confinement for the past three years.
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Mr. Begg was threatened with guns many times over the months to come. Every day the
guards in Kandahar and Bagram would point their weapons - either semi-automatic rifles or
shotguns - at Mr. Begg. The guards would loudly chamber rounds of ammunition and threaten to
kill anyone who moved.

When he was being interrogated for the dark month of May 2002, the CIA agent who was
involved in the interrogation constantly had a semi-automatic rifle, intended to intimidate and
terrorize Mr. Begg during questioning.

fi. Direct threats with tasers

When he was seizedin his home, Mr. Begg was also threatened with a taser. The person with
the weapon then went into his house, in the direction of his wife and children, causing Mr. Begg
even greater alarm.

e. Stress & Duress PhysicalAbuse

It is a sad commentary on the state of the world that Mr. Begg's real abuse began when he
was turned over by the Pakistanis to V.S. custody. The Pakistanis have an unsavory, and often well-
deserved, reputation for treating prisoners badly. However, aside from being forced to watch the
abuse of anotherprisoner, Mr. Begg was treated well by the Pakistani authorities, who did not even
handcuff him for the most part, and who never used leg shackles. All of this changed when he was
turned over to the Americans at the airport in Islamabad. The use of short-shackling, the marching
position, the torture position, and other duress measures were immediately employed, along with
continual abuse by the guards.

The amountof physicalabuse that was occasionedby the so-called"stress andduress" tactics
of the V.S. personnel is too extensive to be fully detailed here, since it happened every day, in any
number of ways. There follows a brief description of some of the methods used.

i. Duress Positions

One tactic which was used against Mr. Begg and others was causing pain by forcing him to
hold his arms out for an extended time. For example, "[o]n the first anniversary of the September
11th attacks all detainees were made to stand for hours and hold up both hands high in the air . . . ."
(045)

Similar duress positions were forced on the prisoners both as punishment (for, inter alia, the
free exercise of religion) and in preparation, softening up the prisoners for interrogation.

fi. The "Marching Position"

The "marching position" used by the V.S. personnel to march prisoners involved short
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shackling them at the feet (so that fast movement was very difficult and painful), with the anns
shackled behind the back, bent double, generally with a hood over the head. The prisoner would
then be forced to march along at double speed, which was twice as difficult for a person of Mr.
Begg's small stature. The tight manacles would cut into his skin both at the ankles and the wrists,
causing great pain.

ill. The "Torture Position"

Some of the prisoners came to use the term "Torture Position" for the position in which
prisoners were forced to travel to Bagram and to Guantanamo (particularly in the early days of the
base). The prisoner would be hooded, often with earplugs, shackled at the ankles, shackled with the
anns behind the back, sitting on the hard and often very cold floor of the aircraft, forced to lean
forwards for many hours on end without talking. This caused great pain to the prisoner. At one
point, Mr. Begg understood that he had to hold the position because the V.S. soldiers (who could not
use guns inside the aircraft) were behind the prisoners with their knives drawn, ready to use them
on any prisoner who dared to move, or who did not properly hold the position.

f. Physicalabuse by Shackling

Shackles were used as a major part of the abuse process. Even today, Mr. Begg is held in
Hiatt Corporation shackles that are stamped, "Made In England."

i. ShacklingGenerally

Shackles - whether the handcuffs for the hands, or the ankle variety - were tightly locked,
and often linked together in a system of short shackling that limited movement, and caused great
pain when the prisoner was forced to move quickly.

n. Suspension by Shackling

Themost painful form of shacklinginvolved suspension of the prisoner while shackled. This
took two forms:

(1) The Amerian variation on the Reverse
Strappado

The V.S. version of the reversestrappado, an ancient torture frommedieval times, is perhaps
the worst. Mr. Begg describes this as happening to him at the hands of the V.S. soldiers when he
arrived at Kandahar. He was being forced along in the "marching position," with a hood on, but he
could not keep up the pace. Two soldiers (one on either side of him) therefore locked their anns into
his own, and lifted him off the ground, his weight being borne by his anns, which were shackled
behind his back. This was excruciatinglypainful, particularly because of his history of a dislocated
shoulder. He cried out in pain, and tried to explain his injury, but he was merely abused the more
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for this. This particular abuse went on for between five and ten minutes the first time, and an equal
time later the same day when he was being moved elsewhere.

(2) The American version of Strappado

The classic version of the medieval strappado was to be suspended by the wrists, which
would be shackled together in front of the prisoner. An American variation of this abuse was used
as punishment at Bagram. Theprisoner would have his "hands shackledto a gate, above head height
by around two feet in length, and a hood covering the head. Then to be left for an hour or two -
sometimesmore. It was one such occasion that ultimately brought about the death of one of the two
detainees killed in custody during my [Mr. Begg's] presence. * * * The said detainee, for his
protestations and pleas for help, was physically beaten in front of me, and subsequently died soon
after." (044)

Mr. Begg was himself a victim of the strappado on several occasions at Bagram, an abuse
generally inflicted on him for reading his Koran to himself for comfort, or talking to one of the other
prisoners in his cage.

3. Torture by Rape & SexualAbuse

Perhaps the most disturbing species oftorture that came to light at Ab Ghraib was the sexual
abuse of prisoners. Sadly, Mr. Begg has been a victim of this as well.

[ACTUAL DETAILS OF SEXUAL ABUSE REDACTED]s

Mr. Begg was threatened by his interrogators with being sexually abused in other ways as
well - threats that thankfully did not materialize.

Mr. Begg has also been subjected to sexual humiliation, where he was stripped on several
occasions, and photographed naked by voyeuristic American soldiers. He has demanded of the
Guantanamo authorities "why I was physically abused, and degradingly stripped byforce, then
paradedinfront of severalcamerastotedby U.S.personnel." (145)(U)

4. Threats of Rendition (OutsourcingTorture)

One of the most terrible moments of Mr. Begg's time in Bagram came in May 2002, when

5 This abuse is horribly humiliating to Mr. Begg, and he has requested that, while the fact
that he was sexually abused may be mentioned, the details not be made public.
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he was told that he was not telling the truth as the interrogators wanted to hear it, and they had made
up their minds that he should be sent to Egypt. Mr. Begg relates that the threat of "Cairo" struck
terror into the hearts of the prisoners in Bagram, as Egypt had a hard-earned reputation for utilizing
methods of torture that even the diabolical V.S. torturers would balk at.

Mr. Begg's blood ran cold when this threat was made. He was taken from the room, put into
the "marching position" with a hood on, spun around several times to disorient him, and left alone
in a room to contemplate his fate. He genuinely believed he would be taken to Egypt and he was
prepared to confess to anything, no matter how false, to avoid it.

It is clear from the experienceof Australian national (and current Guantanamo Bayprisoner)
Mamdouh Habib that Mr. Begg's fears were well-founded.6 Mr. Habib has described how he was
actually rendered to Egypt for six months to be tortured, and detailed his experiences including:

a. being suspended from hooks on the wall, to be "kicked, punched, beaten with a
stick, and rammed with what can only be described as an electric cattle prod." (118)

b. "The Egyptian authorities also made particularly diabolical use of other physical
and psychological torture." (118) This included three variations on water and electric shock
torture -

i. Being placed in a room which was gradually filled up with water until Mr.
Habib could onlyjust stand on the tips of his toes, and feared drowning. (118-19)

ii. Putting him in a room, handcuffed, where he could only stoop, and filling
that up with water, refusing to let him kneel. (119)

iii. Putting him in a room with water to his ankles and threatening him with
electrocution if he did not talk. (119)

iv. "On anotheroccasion, Mr. Habib was suspended from hooks on the wall,
with his feet resting on the side of a large cylindricaldrum. Down the middle of this
drum ran a metal rod with wires attached to both ends. The wires ran to what
appeared to be an electric battery. When Mr. Habib did not give the answers his
interrogators wanted, they threw a switch and ajolt of electricity ran through the rod,
electrifyingthe drum on which Mr. Habib stood. The action of Mr. Habib 'dancing'

6 Counsel has consulted with counsel for Mr. Habib on this, because the issues of
rendition and the threats of rendition to Egypt are important to both cases. Mr. Margulies and
Mr. Stafford Smith have both provided notice to the Court Security Office (CSO) reflecting a
mutual need to know this information. The notices are on file with the CSO. However, counsel
has not shared the details of this discussion with Mr. Begg, as to do so might be inconsistent with
the Protective Order.
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ODthe 4ru= forced it to rotale, and hiI feet coDSWitlyslipped.,leavins him 5\J$pended
by onJythehooksonthewaD.TheiDstinetivemu. to regainhil balllDcc!arced
1Umto place his feet back OD1bedrum, wbi~ of oomse only sent another
excruc:iaEi:&joItofeleetric:ityintDhis feet. E\'entua11y,Mr. Habib was forced 10raise
his lejl, leavinB hi,mto bang by his outs11'achcda:ms unriJ he could sta:Ddit DD
lonpr 1I¥2d,aha~ he dropped his leas back oum the ele.caified drum. This
iDgmUouscrueltYluted until Mt. Habib finally fainted..' (119)

5. Thrtats ofTortDJ'8ad AbD.e(SHODdDeern TOJ1Ufe)

The te:rm .'S1CODdD~ TortUze." ccriDedby !be Spanish Inquisition, uadeaates the terror
that it caninspire.!t was apparmtlydwing the SpmDsbIDq'WsiuO.11that rhos.,bcmton torture leamal
that the terror impind by1be impJClDCD1Sof tortUre could be &$6ctive as the IOrturc itseJt. Indeed.
1i'omme~~~ve ofzheIOmn:. thedager oftOtmrej!lthatit wUlleavethe viCtimuru:omciolB
or dead. The threat oflorNre 8lJow8 the victim to dwcl1 ODhis fate.

Similarly.the ~~tOrs oftartuR alsolamed thalwhileaJtro~ penoD mightresist the
pain jnflictedon himse1(threat; agaj~ lovedODescouldrlpidly break the reaolve of the moSt
detamil1cdprisoner.

1. Threatl tpillst Mr. Beg" Wite.Dd dUldru

Mr.Sou rea:lgDizesthat bis own ab'aserssoon c:smeto laIowhis weakness -he constantly
asked aftCD"'hi! fmnily, bdftyinS his marW fear for th8ir safety. This was ~ to explo~t him. Mr.
Beg DGtcsthat, 'IIIh. he fe1t that his wi~ mc:lchi1dn1awee in danger, he wu prepared to say &::Id
do BDYthiDsto saticfy hi! c:aptml. '

Mr. Be_had no idcrawhalhad becomeofhia family when he was abduoted from his home
ODJanuBJy31,2002.' HeccmsimDtJybe8led his ab\Jlm (md the BritishMI5 agent who would take
part iDhis 'jJ31moptioDl)to teUhim tb. they wen: safe. He was IPVIDno usunmces. and lived 111
a state offear far their ~eU-beiDI. He did not eYeDbow ,.,h~ SaJlyhad Deen abducted as wen
as himself.

1)uringthe month of May 2002, one stratagem wed by the four-man V.S. abuse te8m - FBI
Agents8t1lJ1dl8 the CIA apn~ and the MajOlin charge of Bagram -wu to put Mr. Bea
in feu forhis wife SaJ]y. Therefore, tbm)'p1a.ceda woman m the TClomneXt10the one where be wu
beingintmogated. He couldclC'llflyhar herpi~j~g screams,apparentlyeying out in agonyas

,WbjIcthe ~assjfiedretUmhas thewrongdate,anddoesnot creditthe involvementof
the rwo1).S.FBI agenu:in the abduCtion,it does concedethat he Wa!living in his own home:
"PaJaStaniIUthori~A captW'Cd!lEGCion 30 lan 02 in his home in Islamabad, Pwsfm." (018)
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she was tortured.

He hoped against hope that this was not his wife. However, he later learned that the other
prisoners, still in the cages below, had heard the woman's screams and - knowing his close
attachment to her, and his fears - had themselves reached the conclusion that it was his wife being
abused.

Many months later when he received mail from his wife, he learned that his fears were
unfounded. However, by then he had been through a maelstrom of doubt, anxiety, and anger. He
was helpless to defend her, and his hopelessness knew no limit.

li. Threats against Mr. Begg's children

In abducting him from his house, his captors seized his laptop, which held various pictures
of his children. They had printed off one of the pictures and brought it to the interrogations in
Bagram. They waved it in front of his face, and threatened him on various occasions, saying, "there
is nowhere on earth to hide from us." Mr. Begg took this as a clear threat against his then-six year
old daughter. Again, his anger was interwoven with despair.

b. Threats to torture Mr. Begg as others had been tortured

While Mr. Begg's greatest weakness was his love for his family, his interrogators also used
their abuse of other prisoners to intimidate him.

i. Threats in Pakistan

When he was first held in Islamabad,he was held in solitary confinement. However, after
a while another prisoner, a Pakistani, was brought in. The prisoner was accused of stealing money
that was meant to support Muslims on the Haj, a charge which the prisoner denied.

The prisoner was taken out of the cell for interrogation. When he came back that evening,
he had been savagely beaten. He relayed how the officers had tortured him all day, telling him to
confess. He insisted that he was innocent, and would not do it. He was terrified by the experience,
and Mr. Begg understood his fear.

Later, a Pakistani officer came into the cell, looked at Mr. Begg, and then turned to the
prisoner. The officerpushed the prisoner to the wall, and startedbeating on him with his fists. When
the prisoner would collapse, the officer pulled him back up, and beat him some more. Mr. Begg
shied away in the corner, watching in horror but unable to assist. When he thinks back on what
happened, Mr. Begg is filled with shame that he was not able to help the man as he was abused.

li. Threats in Afghanistan
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When he 1WlIforced to watch the otherpriscmer' albWlt, thb wo a taste of..,hat was to come
for Mr. Bcgg. and be was 'V'IIryafraid, Howevc:r. otbCl'than this. he was treBled well by the Pakistani
authorities, He wasnevCl'threalenc:d bythcm. they told him that they knew nothinglgainst him. ami
that he wu bein& beld solc:ly 11the requCSEof che Amaican.s. He was promised that he V/Ouldbe
SI!tfree shardy. and he lived in the hape that thiI wa5 true.

When he ""IS told that he VlUleaving the blamabad jai~ he initially thought he was goiDS
to be hat. However.thenhe WillshieldedaDdbiJ headwascovered.andhe was fillad~ fear.

The c:hsnse iDtreatment when he was baDded over to !he Americans' was dramatic. He
receiwd death !brea!! condnually. he vas conllmltly tbreauene.dwitb guns. and be wu CODIamtly
!creed to hear the agcmizedcri. of others.

For example. d~ his worst intsropDcm week in Bagram in 14.y 2002. rhe Major who
was m command ofme detmtiaa CeD1III'pmanaJly tb:reat81edto break every finger in his .hand if
he did not confess. ne afficsr hdd Mr. Bell'S left had by the wrist md made it v~ cl.. that he
meant fa can)' oUthis tmeat. TbiJ ia offered asjust OMsample ofmauy -other threats of ph)'!icaJ
torture WC1'8toe 5'equmt to =umcratc hen.

In additiQnto the torture tbBtwu DlCIDtto be]IiJ wife in the DCI door room. Mr. Beg a1so
suff8red thJough the "tcrrlhmg IC'«rtIUoJ/el1p""thUliltw/adng sI.,dlar rt¥rltou (a/torture). ..
(] 4~ (U) This induced dread hi Mr. Beg and hiI foUo.. priscmm.

3. Threall caaeanaiDI GU8Dtla8m0 Bay

When not tJn.ataams 10nndcrMr. Bcg to Egypt, a favariletaatic of!be interrogaton was
le threaten them with goml to OumIwwDOBay. The iJJte:rroptOIStold Mr. Bcg that is 1IIISfar
WOIRthm Afshaaistan-Ihat he wauJcJbe kept there far 810%11rime or forever, that hewouJd never
seehis fmUIyaPin.

4. Tlareaa QaG.uWlamo Bay.

WitbiDfour days of his arrival in Oull1tazuuno)iay. U.S. pcr10mnelaJlPeued 10 level the

S@mcthre8tsagain.1beycametoinlmDsuemmlateintbeevminsof'Febraay 12, 2003. Thenext
daythey'mllde him lip I Statem.:nl

. Mr. Begg's February 2003 "confession. was a:KtC:dbytlu'eatS by four people, and hc"had
been dedIt ve", Jellfrel,y by beforl to by two of them. (027) (138) (POUO) These l8enu had
identifiedthemselvesonlyas FBIAS=Ullll8'and.. Theytoldhim that

"(1)J 'IiIIOrJtllMheld, iM~"II'Iy. probably for SeY«,IJJyeeu belDrs
eYeft Il tiefs,,~~ t:DM1Ut!/.0" eDlD1ltsflrlJff tla', 'WtJSdeJer1lli"ed,' (ii) 1
WDvld/llct 3W/IUtUlry lfiQ/ tft u.s. Milllary 1Wbwra/J 'llVnidrcould well
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result in a life sentence to be served in a maximum security 'prison';
(iii) I could befacing thepossibility of executionby lethal injection
or gas; (iv) in either case I would never be allowed to see my loved
ones again; (v) I would remain in solitary confinement until a
decision was made. " (027) (J38) (FOUO)

Mr. Begg insisted that the statement as theyhad written it was full of inconsistencies and falsehoods.
They lethim change someminor things,but insisted onmany other matters that were false remaining
in the document. They had the document retyped and insisted that he sign it. Ultimately, in a
continued state of fear from the many months of threats and torture, he did.

Mr. Begg has repeatedly stated that he wants a copy of the statement "taken from me on the
12th(or 13th)of February2003." (068)To date,neither Mr. Beggnorhis counsel have been permitted
to see this statement that the Agents said theywere making him sign as "an insurance policy" against
anyone ever saying he was "innocent."

Of course, in any fair legal system there would be no reason to deprive the suspect of copies
of his statement. How can it be something that should be kept from the suspect, if the statement is
true, when the suspect would presumably be able to repeat it all to the lawyer. Not so a statement
made while the accused is being tortured and coerced, because (as Winston Churchill said) only if
you tell the truth the first time can you expect to remember what you said.

Mr. Begg notes in his own memoranda that he was forced to sign this statement despite
obvious mistakes. Indeed, a British person (or someone with a little geographical sense) would
know it is false. For example, the classified factual return purports to quote Mr. Begg as follows:

"Begg has also admitted, including in a signed confession on 13
February 2003, to receiving. . . training in Turnbridge Wells, Essex,
UK, in 1997 and 1998, where Begg taught the Koran and martial
arts." (03/20/2003 DOD memo) (011)

Tonbridge Wells (properly spelled) is in Kent, not in Essex, something Mr. Begg would obviously
have known were the confessionhis. Similarly elementaryerrors pervade the documents provided
to the defense.8

6. Isolationas a methodof Torture

Mr. Begg has been tortured by terrible isolation, designed to totally break his spirit.

8 The 'confession'is false- whollyfalseinsofaras it purportsto incriminateMr.Beggin
vague and unspecified actions against the United States. While the Government has not
identified the sources for the purported allegations against Mr. Begg, this statement is believed to
be the case against him.
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a. Confmementin Isolation

For approximately 22 months (a total of over 650 days and nights) out of the total of 33
months he has been held to date, Mr. Begg was held in total isolation from other prisoners.

i. Solitary Confmementin Pakistan

During the approx~atelytwo months when he was firstheld in Islamabad (from January 31,
2002), he was held in solitary confinement for the first part of his imprisonment, before another
prisoner was placed in his cell and viciously abused in front of him. (See below)

Mr. Beggwas denied legal counsel and consular assistance,despite repeated demands, while
he was held in Pakistan.

n. Isolation in Kandahar

For roughly the first seven weeks that he was in Kandahar, he was held in a wire cage that
was one of six in the hangar / warehouse wherehe was held. Each one was separated from the others
by concertina wire. Each cage held just one person. The cages were freezing cold. The prisoners
were not allowedto communicate in anyway with the other prisoners, on pain of severe punishment.
This was apparently the place where the V.S. held people from whom they particularly wanted to
extract information. From what limited communication that he did manage over the long time he
was there, he established that one of the other prisoners held in this area was a former head of a
region in Afghanistan, thought to be a senior member of the Taliban. Another prisoner was a
Russian.

Mr. Begg repeatedlybegged his captors to take him out of his cagebecause the total isolation
was causing him such mental health problems.

Even when he was moved to "general population" the rules were very strict as to whether a
prisoner could talk, and to whom.

Meanwhile, Mr. Begg was denied legal counsel and consular assistance, despite repeated
demands, while he was held in Kandahar. He made these requests to British personnel as well as
Americans.

ill. Isolation in Bagram

For most of his time in Bagram, Mr. Begg was held in "general population," although again
he was severelyrestricted with respect to talking to others, and communication. Indeed, if Mr. Begg
or other prisoners were seen moving their lips, even if this was because they were reciting the Koran
in silence to themselves, they would be severely punished - generally with the strappado torture,
hanging from the door in the cage "air lock."
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The most stressful and violent period of his interrogation was May 2002, when the official
records themselves reflect that he was interrogated officially at least fifteen times, with the actual
number of "sessions" probably being more. Many of these sessions went on for several hours.
However, in between sessions fo the whole month Mr. Begg was held in utter isolation under terrible
circumstances.

This isolation was accompanied by intense physical pain. Mr. Begg was hog tied in his
shackles, with a bag over his head. Mr. Begg reports as follows:

"I was shackled with my hands behind my back, and then to the
shackles on my ankles - so that it was impossible to move, except to
roll around very awkwardly in the ground - and a hood placed over
my head, causing suffocating breaths. I am an asthma sufferer and
mentioned it to deaf ears." (044)

Mr. Begg was abused terribly during this period, and now permanently suffers from an
aggravated form of claustrophobia which causes him to panic when placed in the vehicles used to
transport the prisoners at Guantanamo, or when he feels that his cell is closing in on him.

Again,Mr. Beggwasdeniedlegal counsel andconsular assistance,despite repeated demands,
while he washeld in Bagram. The effectof this isolation was exacerbatedby the credible statements
made by his abusers that his government had intentionally and irrevocably abandoned him.

iv. Isolation Torture in Guantanamo

It is not clear why Mr. Begg was singled out for such abusive isolation treatment in
Guantanamo Bay, but for 19 months (roughly 570 days and nights) from circa February 7,2003,
until September 2004 he was held in total isolation in Camp Echo.

b. The ref"medIsolation Techniques in Guananamo Bay

The confinement of Mr. Begg has been far more calculated in Guananamo Bay. Given the
mental problems caused by his torture in Afghanistan, this must be viewed as a frightening
exacerbation of his other abuse.

(1) The lay-out of the Isolation cell

His Camp Echo cell can be described as follows: It is approximately 2m x 2~ m, with the
steel bed taking up half of the cell, the steel toilet another part, leaving a small space to stand. Two
walls are concrete, two are mesh. The cell door leads to an area with a shower with a curtain at
roughly waist level. A second door leads from this area to the second half of the cell, which is the
inteITogationsection (now also used for attorney visitation). The cell was therefore hermetically
sealed so that he did not to be taken out of it for interrogation or any other reason.
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In theory, in the early days Mr. Begg was pennitted one 15minute "recreation" time every
two days alone in the 5m x 5m mesh cell in the middle of the Camp Echo courtyard. This was later
meant to be increased to 30 minutes, and was then to one hour. The rest of the time (at least 23
hours a day) he spent in his cell.

However, for 5months, startingin September2003, he was denied recreation altogether, and
from November to January he only came out of the cell twice. (060)

"From September 2003 to January 2004, MB was deprived of natural
light. From November 2003 to January 2004, he was not taken out
of his cell except on two occasions. On two occasions he was placed
in a 'three-piece suit' shackle and frog-marched around the gravel
prison yard for twenty minutes as 'recreation. ' It resulted in cutting
and bleeding on his ankles." (142) (FOUO)

Given that this was the only 'recreation' that was pennitted, Mr. Begg refused to be taken out and
further abuseduntil the rules were changedin January. Even then, his 'recreation' was again limited
to the 5m x 5m exterior cell with a small football that he was meant to kick about by himself

(2) The intent of the interrogators was to hold
him in utter isolation

For the first several months at Guantanamo Bay, Mr. Begg was held in such a cell in Camp
Echo isolated from all other prisoners, yet there was a guard required to be in his cell, staring at him
for 24 hours a day. The guard was not supposed to talk to him at all.

Then cameras were installed in the cells, almost directly over the toilet. These rotate around
the cell so that they can keep a pennanent track on the prisoner. The most intimate things are on
camera twenty-four~ours a day. Yet at this point, Mr. Begg was left utterly alone. The guards were
meant to come in only to deliver his food through the hatch in his cell door.

Mr. Begg did nothing to deserve being held in isolation as a punishment. He was only
removed fromthis isolationregime in Camp Echo afterhis first legalvisit in September, when Camp
Echo was turned into the legal visitation center. He is now held on a tier with other prisoners who
have been designated for military tribunals.

(3) The euphemistic "comfort items"

In the cell that is used for tours the approved "comfort items" are laid out on the bed. These
include an orangeuniform (of the typerendered so notorious in the Guantanamo Bay media that the
savage kidnapers in Iraq are now copying them), flip flops made in China, a towel, two orange
disposable razors (of little use to those whose religion compels them not to shave), a small bar of
soap, a toothbrush with a short handle for the thumb and forefinger, a small tube of paste, a bottle
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of water, and a box of the game Chequers.

When asked who the prisoner is meant to play Chequers with, the officer providing the tour
said, ''with himself," because the guardsare specificallyprohibited fromplaying. Mr. Begg confirms
that he is meant to see whether he can beat himself at this simple game, 365 days in the year.9

(4) Isolation from those who could help

Mr. Begg repeatedlydemanded legal counsel in Guantanamo Bay. He did not receive it until
August 2004.

He was not permitted to see a member of the ICRC until several months after arriving in
Guantanamo Bay. (029)

(5) Isolation from family

Mr. Begg's isolation has been completed by the limitations placed on his right to keep in
touch with his family and receive mail. His fourth child was born after his abduction, and he has
never seen his own son. This causes him great distress. He dwells on his fears that his other
children will not know him - even his oldest child. He also worries constantly about his family's
well-being, a concern that was heightened in the early days of his captivity when he did not even
know whether they had been abducted themselves, or had reached a safe place.

Mr. Begg has sent over 60 letters to his family, but apparently only five have been allowed
through, and those have been censored. He has received only limited mail himself, and even the
words from his small children have been censored. Letters from Mr. Begg's "eight year old
daughter were heavily censored." (142) (FOUO) Mr. Begg has demanded of the Guantanamo
authorities "ft] hejustification for withholding most of myfamily mail, and incongruent obscurance
of what little amounts have trickled through - evenfrom 8 year olds. " (145) (U)

All of this contributed to his desolation.

7. The abuse of Bright Lights

As a technique for torturing prisoners, bright lights are often used in conjunction with sleep
deprivation. This has been true in the case of Mr. Begg.

During Mr. Begg's time at Bagram, for example, he reports:

9 It should be noted that these sadistic and stupid rules are not imposed by the guards in
the camp, and Mr. Begg would be the first to say that they are not the guards' fault. They are
rules that were created by Maj. General Miller and the other misguided senior officials, who
believed that abusive procedures would force statements out of the prisoners.
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IIBrisbtliahUware conmntlypoinr~ towardsus. and over-thecourse
'of my time they were neYe' once tIlmed off or dimmed to euble
decaa! ale=p."(04~)

Alouad me cqes at B~ floodliJhts wouldbe constantly focused on the priJonen. In addi~OI1
to the Jip~ the :aoiJeoftbe pDl!ftItOIICOllln'nncdta the sleep dcprivatioa. Earlier, in KInc1absr,
the same kinds ofbrigb! lights wen kept ccmstaDtJyon.

DuriDathe wom part of Mr. Beel s intmogation~ iDMay 200~ he wu hog tied in tight
shackIa in an UPsWrl~om. A brisht floodljpt wu dim:ted at his eyes. pE'8\I8IItiaghim from
sleepmJl.

Dur.ingtheacrualintmDptiODl themadvcs, the tWoFBI .en~anked the
CIA agmrtwith his automaEicrifle. AaaiD.a.bright light shone dOW11into Mr. Begg's eyes. It Vias
plaoed about eight fee!ahove the t1oar.diJec:t1yabovethe CIA lieD!". hud. 8l,I.dsemj-blinded Mr.
Begs. 'Ibis rcndl:Rd biJ il1tarOp101Sdark silhouettes as they berated, abused mrJ taI'tIZrI!dhim.

In GuantanamoBay. agmpMr. Begwu apo~ QD]Ylobright Illtifi~ia11igbt.Only around
the time the U.S. SupremeCcIUtruled m favorof the detaine. di~ the ~ for the fim tUnc.cut
Anal] vetdcal wiDdOM into the oUlersiCleoftbc Camp Ec!io cell VJhcreMr. Beg would periodically

, be intmoptai. This shed no memingfuJ DIlInlligbt into the other side. where hl;WMheld 11]east
23 hours 'a day. AdditiCDIaUy,for a whil, the prisODsrarted tummg the IigbEl!lan in the ce11sat four
0' cJock in theMonUD&10.,akc the prisaac:r.l up. '

At the other ea4 of the spearum,lbe J8.ckofnat'lD11ight is aucrtherfactar iDthe abuse of the
In;50nc. Ban, CDD$tmnJykept Imdarbrisht I11ificiaJlisht il intmdouaUy dUoriczatiDg.Far w=b
and l'aOutblon eIId.Mr. Bell '11/11kept in isolaticm.away from Daruta1Hgbt.

8. Tbe abule DfSJeepDepriVltloD

Sleepdeprivaticmcm, ftwting 1Ilcme.u]timal~l)'kiDapmon. It is ciesiga.et!in the ml!llntUne
to disorient tbe pc:noD, combine with otbsr fears. and induce rhcm to make SlmezDCI1ts-
unfortuaately. often false.

'TbjurnnaglllJ 981 used I great d.eaJbytlIepeoplewhoabusedMr.Ben. Fortheentiretime
he wu in AfgbBDista:Dhe wu kept deprived of s]c:cpby a combiDatian of brigbt ligbts, noise. aDd
other direct BCtion designed to disrupt his sleep. Some of these merhods have becn described
a1ready; the specifics of sleep deprivation is described below.

Far ~ample, in JW1dahlU'.Mr. Be" reportS thaEbecause there were tin walls to the place
where the tlrisQnc:nwereheJd, the guards would throw slones to make Bnoise "'hem people seemed
to be going to sleep.Sometimes. fooJishJy,the guards 'o»ouldthrow stones directly at the prisoners.
prompting the prisoner! to throw them back. Mr. Be-RIreports being hit painfu1Jyby a stone in this
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way, although he resisted the temptation to throw it back.

In Bagram, aside from the routine efforts to interrupt sleep, the guards would come to get the
prisoners for interrogation at night. Then, in the horrific month of May 2002, Mr. Begg was
subjected to the Real McCoy of Sleep Deprivation. He was held in a room, with a guard watching
him, with abright spotlighton him, and told to write out confessions day andnight, whenever he was
not being interrogated. He is very confused about what he did during this time period, but he thinks
he wrote out several pages of gibberish, as he was forced to continue writing as his faculties failed
him. If ever he looked like sleeping, he was forcefully woken up. Varying in intensity, the sleep
deprivation methods went on the entire month, until Mr. Begg was foggy with exhaustion.

Even at Guantanamo Bay, the same tactics were used, and at one point the prison started
turning the bright lights on in the cell at four o'clock in the morning, to make Mr. Begg wake up.

9. The abuse of Noise

Another tried and true form of torture is the use of constant noise. Not only does this cause
intense irritation, but it also contributes to the sleep deprivation.

At Bagram,Mr. Begg reports that therewas a ''reception'' room established fornew prisoners
who, before being put into the cage airlock for abuse, would be placed in a room with very loud
"music". For the most part Mr. Begg did not recognize the "bands" who performed this music, but
described them as far more discordant than regularheavy metal (farworse than, e.g.,Metallica). The
noise room was adjacent to the cage in which he was held for a long time, and the noise was almost
constant - with a particular emphasis at night.

Other noise - including the efforts to prevent sleep, and the sounds of the generators, etc. -
have been described elsewhere, and all of this contributed to the mental health problems sufferedby
the prisoners.

10. Dietary alteration

At the best of times, the food was terrible and limited. No hot meals were ever served.
When he was being held in Bagram, especially during the month of May 2002 when the most
abusive interrogation was taking place, Mr. Begg was given limited food, and was not even allowed
to eat what he had. He would be placed in the corner of the room where he was being held, tightly
shackled, and with the hood only raised slightly. He would then be given an MRE and told to eat
it. But because he could not open the package in that position, and because he could not maneuver
to eat it, he asked the guard for assistance. When he did this, in violation of the rule that he should
not speak, he had his meal taken away from him.

11. General Disorientation
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Particularlyduringthe May 2002 interrogationprocess, disorientation was another technique
used to abuse Mr. Begg. He would be shackled in the marching position, with a hood over his head,
and then spun around so he would not have any idea where he was, before being taken off to a cell
to be left alone for hours on end.

12. Inhumane Conditions (see also Isolation, Light, Noise, etc.)

There have been various ways in which Mr. Begg has been the victim of torture by being
placed in prison conditions that have been inhumane.

a. Lack of Sanitary Conditions

For the first two months in Kandahar, Mr. Begg was not permitted a shower once. When he
was allowed to shower, this was often done under extreme conditions, with the water freezing cold.
Similar conditions persisted in Bagram, resulting in one prisoner collapsing in front of him:

"On several occasions we were paraded naked in communal showers
- during the winter - and made to wash in ice cold water. On one
occasion a detainee collapsed from the sheer cold and was taken to
hospital for hypothermia." (044)

When he was in a cage with other prisoners in Kandahar, they all had to share one bucket in
the cell as a toilet. This was often not emptied for two days. In the summer months there was a
terrible smell and a high potential for the spread of disease because of these unsanitary conditions.

b. Vermin & maggots

While Mr. Begg was held in Guantanamo Bay, there was a foul infestation of maggots with
terrible smell from a rotting animal under his cell for five weeks in June and July 2004. (060) the
guards would not stay in the cell area, but he had to. Despite continual protests, nothing was done
until the maggots were coming through the floor in droves. Finally, Mr. Begg was moved to a
different cell.

13. Threats and Assaults with Animals

Mr. Begg has been threatened and assaulted with animals on various occasions.

a. Attack Dogs

On two occasions, during the worst of his interrogation at Bagram Airforce base in May
2002, dogs were used to threaten and terrorize Mr. Begg. On both occasions, both on the way to
interrogation and on the way back, he was being forced along in the "marching position," with a
hood tightly over his head. Dogs were barking, and at first he thought that they were on the loose,
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but it became clear that they were on a leash, and being provoked towards him. The soldiers with
the dogs were saying, "Get 'im, boy!" The dogs seemed to be within inches of his face, though he
could only hear them. He was very afraid.

On another occasion, while Mr. Begg was at Guantanamo Bay, he was in the small, IS-foot
square "recreation" area outside, dressed in his orangeprison garb, running around in circles getting
the only exercise he could. One of the guards brought an Alsatian towards the area. The guard was
telling the Alsatian that the orange thing was some kind of animal, a hamster, and the dog could
maybe chew on some orange meat that day.

b. Camel Spiders

Mr. Begg is particularly afraid of Camel Spiders. Indeed, he showed me a National
Geographic magazine in which there were some terrible pictures of such a camel spider. As he
writes in one of the documents in the file, Bagram was plagued with these spiders:

"During the warmermonths the place ran rampant with . . .gruesome
camel spiders - that not only look nightmarish, but have a very
powerful bite and rot the flesh around the bite. Several detainees
indeed were bitten." (044-45)

Worse than the infestation was the sadism of the V.S. officers. The V.S. military would use
camel spiders to torment the prisoners. Mr. Begg relates one example when there was an old
Afghani in his cage at Bagram. One of the more sadistic among the guards summoned the old man
over, seemingly with a promise of something to eat. As the old man got to the gate, the guard
reached through with aplastic container, and threw a large camel spider onto the man. The man was
not bitten right then, but later on that night the spider bit another person in the cell block.

Mr. Begg lived in constant terror of the camel spiders, particularly at night.

c. Other vermin, animals,etc.

There were many other vermin and poi~onousspiders that were allowed to roam among the
pnsoners:

"During the warmer months the place ran rampant with mice,
venomous scorpions and gruesome camel spiders. . . ." (044-45)

Mr. Begg was terrified of the scorpions that were in Afghanistan.

There have also been snakes that have been loose among the prisoners. Indeed, at
Guantanamo Bay, Mr. Begg was in the small "recreation" area and there was a snake under a mat.
The snakebecamevery aggressiveandwaspoised to attack Mr. Begg,who retreated to the other side
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of the 15' square enclosure. Despite his calls for help, the guards took no action and did no more
than watch. Fortunately for Mr. Begg, the snake ultimately did not attack him.

14. Religious abuse (Abuse and Torture targeted specifically at Muslims)

There was a systematic effort to humiliate and abuse Mr. Begg and others with him by
playing on their religious sensitivities as Muslims.

a. General denial of ReligiousRights

Mr. Begg has demanded of the Guantanamo authorities whyhe has not been allowed to meet
with a Muslim chaplain in his entire time at Guantanamo Bay. (145) (U)

Mr. Begg has asked that they cease the "racially and religiouslyprejudiced taunts. "(146)
(U)

b. Abuses involvingthe Koran

The Koran was constantly abused in an effort to offend the sensibilities of Mr. Begg and
other Muslims. It would be trodden on by officers, and thrown on the ground. Mr. Begg heard (but
did not witness) of it being thrown into the toilet buckets in the cages.

c. Abuses involvingNakedness

TheV.S. personnelmade consistenteffortsto humiliate Mr. Begg andotherswith nakedness.
This began with his arrival in Kandahar when he was stripped naked, continued with his arrival in
Bagram, and then was routinely repeated when he and others were forced to strip publicly for
showers. (While Mr. Begg concedes that this is not an infringement on the sensibilities of many
non-Muslims, this was an effective method of humiliating devout Muslims.)

d. Abuses involvingPrayers

The guards were intent on interrupting the prisoners' prayers and insulting them. Mr. Begg
relates many incidents when prisoners were punished for silently reciting the Koran to themselves,
and he personally received the strappado punishment for this. He also witnessed other prisoners
being punished for announcing the call to prayer for other prisoners.

e. Abuses involvingShaving

Mr. Begg, along with all the otherprisoners, was shaved-losing both his beard and his hair.
This went on for the whole time he was in Afghanistan. It was humiliating. He saw two older men
who had never shaved in their entire lives being forcibly shaved. They wept inconsolably for a long
time when it was done. During the shaving, one of the guards remarked happily, "This is the part
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1"40.897 P.36

thatreallylets toyouMusliiDs,isn't it?"

15. Threaa of. SlUDIIIlryTrial

As previously noted, Mr. Begghas contmually been tbreatc:n.edwith I summazy uia1 .-here
nislegal and human rightSwould he &ti&reprded,much 1ib ~e sho\\,.trials that Weft once used by
the Soviet Unicm. 1he trial would simplybc for show. andhe was repeatedly told tbaI the taUJt was
a forepe ccmc1usioa-heQ/owdbefmmdguilty!Dd!!I~tencedeither"toJi&in ~'priscm"(adesolate
prisonlike Ou'"3tAuao Bay)or 1hCdeathpcul1)"(variouslyby electrOQluan,lethal ~ or lethaJ
injection). .

Mr. Beg CDDSWlt1ydemanded access EOa la~e:r, which was periodically promised, but
unjformly dl:l1ieduntil Aupst 2004...some 30mon1hsafterhis abduction. Despite being demp:llt~
for a Military Tn1Nraa1in June 2003. J7 mcmtbshave lOne by and he still bu cat even belm told
whaJ the charps might be. U1timate1y,wbm h. "WaspIt)Dlised a SlmlmazytriB1.it Wallto be a
CombatazitStatus Review Tn"bunal(CSR.1)as diSt'l'~JIJdbelow.

16.- Li8l8lld DGpUdty ,-

Lies ad duplicity,while ger:un.uynot ImOUDtmgtotorture, do complement a torture regime
iffhe goal is tDlecure a canfeamoD\1r.ithomregard to the wrh or falsity of that I!Itau:mCDt.This was
t'I.cansTmt thecae ofMr-. Bell'S abuse..

1. WlLUeMr. Bc. has tried la be 1I0Delt,V.S. pel'lOlaaelh."'~ bee.
duplidtoul thtoughout their abras!and iIIf8J"ro£8dollof him

U.5. ofticials have constantly lied to Mr. Bcsg. and tried tDdece'Ve him. apparcat1y in the
hope that be wauld ay something thal would inc::rimizlatehim. From bis mtc:rrogationsin Paki&taD,
throughAfgbwstm, ad imo GuantlDlIIJ10Bay, h. has CcmJWltlybec:atold lies (about bdng
BJJowedto.SOhome. and 50on). the mtcrroptors have implied fa1S~hDDc1s(about othm implic:atiDg
him, about his wife being tormred. md IDforth). and used deecption to by to UDdemrlnehis sense
ofreaJit)'.

The Briush Govc:rmrllmf(throughthe MI5) has been compHcitiDthis, -.uith
an MI5agent,tellingMr.Bcg thathe had10C40pemewiththe U.S. and that the more gu:i1tyhe
madehjm8elfseam.the qYickcrhe would«me home.

2. The CSRT's have b~eD CynjC:8JJyuellted I1 yet aDotIau form 01
IDterrolatioJl

Tbe dup1iciry~ has been too atmajve to be com~]ete1yreviewedin this documl2lt.
Indeed.theproc:eacontinueswiththestunningly')'DicalCombatantStarusReviewTribunal(CSR.1')
thatismeanttojudgeMr,Beg's status,andholdouthopeto '!heprisonerthathe mightbe ~Ieased
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if he talks. Ultimately, as Mr. Begg has learned to his emotional and mental cost, the CSRT is
nothing more than another arrow in the interrogator's quiver, designed to induce even greater
hopelessness and despair in the prisoner.

i. The "Personal Representative" is actually Mr. Begg's
latest "Personal Interrogator"

The prisoner is told that he can have a ''personal representative" who is going to help him
present his side of the case. This personal representative is a military officer, without legal training.
Mr. Begg was not initially told that this representative would report everything back to the
authorities:

"VS Officials had not explained to . . . [MoazzamBegg]that the
Combatant StatusReview Tribunal 'Personal representative' was not
an advocate for the detainee and that anything told to the Personal
Representatives could be used against them." (141) (FOVO)

Representatives of the UK government were present when the explanation was given, and allowed
Mr. Begg to be misled in this regard:

Representatives of the V.K. government were present when a V.S.
official explained what the CSRT was and when the Personal
Pepresentative was described." (141) (FOVO)

The personal representative is, therefore, simply another of the interrogators.

ii. The CSRT is itself simply another form of Interrogation
with only the vaguest pretense that it will result in an fair
result

The prisoner is next told that he can call any witness or present any document that is
''reasonably available." He is told this so that he will reveal this information to the personal
representative. However, the V.S. was lying to him again, as Mr. Begg found out.

Mr. Begg was told that he was an enemy combatant, and he should tell the ''personal
representative" the names of anyone who could say anything relevant to shed light on this. So he
told his ''personal representative" the names of various witnesses who could show that he went to
Afghanistan to help poor people with building wells, andhe indicated the evidence that would assist
in proving this:

"I also gave the 'Rep' my father's contact address to obtain
documentation from my friends etc. about the school project and
wells; the reason 1went to Afghanistan in the first place." (071)
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He also gave the personal representative names of other witnesses who he thought might help -
although he was hampered by the fact that he neither knew the charges against him nor did he have
a lawyer.10

The CSRT process then descendedfurther into farce,with the government pretending to help
while steadfastly doing nothing. The government knew the names of Mr. Begg's witnesses, but his
lawyers did not - and the government not only failed to contact the witnesses, but refused to tell
counsel the names so that counsel could do it. The government said it had been unable to contact
the witnesses - although with some it was a simple matter of making a telephone call.

The CSRT was set for November 10. Counsel asked for a delay until November 19, when
counsel would be in Guantanamo Bay. The government refused to allow counsel to be present
(although the media couldbe), but announced (on November 10)that it would allow additional time
for counsel to secure the necessary evidence - delaying the CSRT for one day until November 11,
2004. Counselpointed out that this was ridiculous, given that counsel was on another continent and
had not been provided with the names of the witnesses anyway.

The Government later announced the CSRT was going to be held on November 13, 2004.
Whether it has been held or not Mr. Begg cannot say, sincehe had not (as of November 21) been told
anything about it. All that Mr. Begg does know is that he has not been able to secure any witnesses
or documentary evidence to defend himself.

According to the rules of the CSRT, the prisoner has the right to remain silent. However,
under these circumstances, if the accused does remain silent there is no evidence that can be
presented. This ''right'' is therefore also a mockery of our constitution, and the CSRT itself is simply
another interrogationsessionwhere the prisonermust speakto thethreemilitary officers whopreside
over his fate, or have nothing to present.

When the prisoner learns that only one of more than 250 prisoners has been found not to be
an "enemy combatant", he will plunge further into despair. The open legal system in civilian society
makes far more mistakes, andno reasonableperson believes the Department ofDefense's boast that
this shows the reliability of their procedures -least of all an innocent person who has been tortured,
such as Mr. Begg.

17. Medical Treatment, Abuse by withholding

Mr. Begg has been further abused by mistreatment for the medical problems that he has
suffered as a result of the long-term, horrific abuse that he has suffered at the hands of the United

10Mr. Begg did not know what crime he was meant to have committed (and still does
not), and had been held in isolation for over two years. It was impossible for him, acting alone,
meaningfully to identify how he could really defend himself, what witnesses could help, or what
useful documents could be located.
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States government.

a. Shocking and Seemingly Intentional Malpractice with respect to Mr.
Begg's mental health problems

Given the torture and abuse that Mr. Begg has suffered at the hands of the V.S. government,
it is hardly surprising - indeed, it is wholly inevitable - that he suffers from serious mental health
disorders. Anyone who pretends to deny this either does not know the facts, or does not know what
he is talking about - or both.

i. Some of the Indicia of Mr. Begg's mental health problems

As the bitter fruit of the torturers' strategies, Mr. Begg describes various sYmptomsand
events that are clearly indicators of serious mental health problems. These should be evaluated by
a trained and competent expert, in the context of a confidential mental health evaluation.11

Mr. Begg suffers from mental attitudes sometimes seen in the victims of concentration
camps. His mistreatment has become his reality, so that he now describes as acceptable treatment
an experience that the normal person would find horrifying. Counsel spent a long time probing this
mental framework to reveal to Mr. Begg how distorted his sense of reality has become.

[PRIVATE DETAILS OF MENTAL HEALTH PROBLEMS REDACTED]

11Counsel has significant experience in mental health issues from representing scores of
prisoners facing the death penalty, and can confidently express the obvious opinions expressed
below. Counsel's extensive experience in this area assisted in eliciting details of Mr. Begg's
sYmptoms,despite Mr. Begg's active effort to repress his suffering. It is clear that Mr. Begg
urgently needs to see a competent, reliable and confidential mental health professional.
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[PRIVATE DETAILS OF MENTAL HEALTH PROBLEMS REDACTED]
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1'10.897

[pRIVATE DB1A1LS OFMEm AL HEAI.:m PROBJ..EMSIlEDACTED]

All iDau, Mr. Bell preseot8asa pcaon whois suff. fromv~ serious mCDtaJhealth
. problems that need urgmt and.competmt tnIIm1mrt..

2. ShDc:kbagMistreatmellt of Mr. Beg's lDeDtal health
prDblems

Mr. Beg's hopelesmess is exacerbated by the fact that he cumot speak with anyone. His
IiUpposedmaml health prafeaiiOI1a1swin net crYenten himtheir names, md he undc::nbmdsthat
~ytbiDg be says 10man is subject to being reported md ~gainst him. Whe= the
British ForcrisD& Commonwealth Office (PCO) offida.l~~ to see !aim..the
meeting is not coDfidem:lal,and is attl:ndcdby at lc:ut ODCAmerican. He _8 it is pointless for him
r.odesaibc hi5mCl1wproblems bcclNlc tb~ iI nOWng that c:aabe done about thc:m..

Jndea!s theFCO meetinga have often beea I source'of'painrather than comfort for Mr. Begg.
For example, ...b~ he mCIIwith the YOO in J1m!2003. he was chaiaed for 7 hours waiting for the
visit. He complained ta the PCO official, who promised to deal 'lllith it, and yet the slDie thing
happeaed again tb. next day. (032)

No I!H!I'1talbea1thprofessional can hope to utablish a re]ationship of tnlst "beD ever)'tbmg
said to the doctor cm be reponed back to the custodian -or evenwhen the patient is not guarantca1
such confide;ati.wty. ne need for tm8 tNst is tM very core of !bepaue:at-ph)1ician privilege, 10Dg
m:o~ed in American law. but whoUyabrogated in Ouantinamo B3Y.13

However. the malpractice goes far deeper than a lack of canfideJ:Itiality.One mea.w health
professional acma1]ydescribed to Mr. Beg bow he cou1dhaJJghimself. She said that he could 18ke
his underwear, thread a b1ank~ or trOusersthrough this. and use ;t to hang lUmself Mr. Beg has
smcc been unable to gSt 1his image out of his min'd. and it haunts him constantly. For a meatal

. he~th professionalto SlYthis to apatientis theheightofstUpidit)',msponsibi1ity or sadism.

l:t .Theprivilq. 'MUlargelyitTellNantin the U.S.detentionfacilities in Afghmi9tBn,
where the CS. was intent solely on abusing tna prisoners without even pretending to treat the
resultant menta}health problems.. .
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b. Medical Malpractice as part of the abuse of Mr. Begg

Beyond the failure to provide meaningful treatment of Mr. Begg's mental health problems,
Mr. Begg also describes the medical problems that he is facing.

i. Mr. Begg's ear problems

As described elsewhere, Mr. Begg was subjected to a fonn of telefono, the intentional
infliction of pain by beating the prisoner about the ears. Whether it was this, or the unsanitary
conditions of his detention for the past three years (or both), Mr. Begg has suffered formany months
from severe ear pain. He has been told that his ear must be operated on, which causes him
significant additional fear given the low quality of the medical care that he has experienced at the
hands of the V.S.

He was told that he would receive ear surgery in September,but it still had not been done as
of November 21,2004.

li. Mr. Begg's foot injuries

Because of the abuse when Mr. Begg's feet (particularlyhis right foot) were stomped by an
MP in combat boots, Mr. Begg suffers from severe foot pains, some related to the fact that his right
big toe is becoming increasingly defonned, as is apparent to the causal observer.

ill. Mr. Begg's dislocated shoulder

Mr. Begg has a history of dislocating his left shoulder prior to his abduction by the V.S. and
this injury has been significantly exacerbated both by the reverse strappado abuse described
elsewhere in this document, and by the physical beating that his shoulder received.

iv. Visiting "hospital" in Guantanamo Bay

Mr. Begg is intimidated by the mere notion of being taken to the "hospital" at Guantanamo
Bay. At one point he had some very minor dental work, and was taken to the hospital and chained
(hands and feet) to a gurney and left. He liad to wait sixteen hours before he was finally seen.
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Glossary of Terms

Falaka - this is the Arabic term for the torture technique, frequently used in Egypt, where the
torturer beats the soles of the prisoner's feet to take advantage of the many nerve endings in
the feet, resulting in great pain that lasts for a long time after the beating has ended.

Hog tied - this is the position in which the prisoners' feet would be shackled, andhis wrists shackled
behind his back, but with the hand cuffs threaded through the feet shackles so that he could
not move, generally with a hood on.

Marching position - this is the way in which the V.S. marched prisoners, short shackled at the feet
(so that fastmovement is verydifficult andpainful), with the arms shackledbehind the back,
bent double, generally with a hood over the head.

Reverse Strappado - this is a medieval torture technique where the prisoner would have his wrists
bound behind his back and then he would be lifted and suspended from his arms, wrenching
the shoulder sockets, and ultimately causing dislocation of the shoulders.

Second degree torture - this is the term first coined by the Spanish Inquisition where the threat of
torture, or the threat to torture others (close family members) was often found to be even
more terrible to the prisoner than direct torture.

Strappado - this is amedieval torture techniquewhere the prisoner would have his wrists bound and
then would be suspendedfrom the wrists, causinggreat pain, and ultimatelycausing
dislocationof the shoulders.

Telefono - this is the medieval torture involving boxing the ears with a view to causing great pain
and ultimately perforating the ear drum.

TorturePosition - this is some prisoners' and ex-prisoners' term for the position in which prisoners
were forced to travel, to Bagram and to Guantanamo (particularly in the early days of the
base); the prisoner would be hooded, often with ear plugs, shackled at the angles, and with
the arms behind the back, sitting on the hard and often very cold floor of the aircraft, forced
to lean forwards for many hours on end without talking.
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